Historic Structure Report

Building 25

Enlisted Men’s Barracks

Fort Hancock, New Jersey

Sandy Hook Unit

Gateway National Recreation Area

Building Conservation Branch
Cultural Resources Center

Northeast Region
National Park Service




BUILDING 25
ENLISTED MEN’S BARRACKS
Fort Hancock

HISTORIC STRUCTURE REPORT

Sandy Hook Unit
Gateway National Recreation Area

By

Naomi D. Kroll
and
Sharon K. Ofenstein

Building Conservation Branch
Northeast Region, National Park Service
U.S. Department of Interior
Lowell, Massachusetts

February 2002






CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES AND CREDITS ..ottt Vi
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS.....oooitiiiiiitis sttt Xii
INTRODUGCTION ..ottt e e sae e nnna e e annne e 1
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ..ottt enes 3
SIGNITICANCE. ...ttt ettt ettt e nres 3
a1l 1Y PRSP PR 6
Research Conducted to Produce the Historic Structure Report..........ccccevvvieiiniennnnn 7
Major Issues Identified in the Scope 0f WOrK ........cccccviveiiiiiiiiicie e, 8
Recommendations for TreatmMent OF USE .........ccocviirieiieieiesiesesee e 8
ADMINISTRATIVE DATA . .ottt sttt sttt ne e an s 10
Names, Numbers, and Locational Data ...........ccccocvevviiiiiiiie s 10
Proposed Treatment and SOUrce DOCUMENT.........ccoiieriererieiieieesie e 10
REIAIEA STUAIES. .. e bbb 10
Recommendations for Care of Materials Generated.............cccccevvveveiiniiiinieneeieen 11
BRIEF ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION. .....cctiiiiiiiiseree e 12
HISTORICAL DATA ..ot 15
BACKGROUND ...ttt et bttt bbbt 17
PLANNING THE FORT ...ttt ettt 22
Approval and Initial EStIMAates...........cooiiiiiii e 22
Site Selection and PIANS ... 23
BUILDING THE FORT ..ottt 25
SITE PrepParatiOnS........coi oottt bbb 25
Construction of BUIAINGS.........cccoiiiiiiiii e 25
Utilities and LandSCaping........ccoccuuuiiiiiiiieiinieeie st sie e stesseeses 29



USE OF FORT HANCOCK, 1899 - 1974 .......cciiiiiieiree s 32

CHRONOLOGY OF DEVELOPMENT AND USE.......ccccooiiiiiiiicicc, 39
CONSTRUCTION HISTORY ..ottt 41
ORIGINAL APPEARANCE ..ottt ettt 44
EXTErior EIBMENTS ..o b e s 44

=] o SR PR 44

10 Lo 1A o] o SRR PR 44

WIS ..t 45

POICNES ..ottt 45

DOOMWAYS. ...ttt 46

WWVINAOWS ...ttt nes 48

ROOTS L. 51

FINISNES ... 52

UBHTIEIES e bbb 52

SErUCTUTAl EIBMENTS .....viiiieie et 53
Bearing WallS ........ccooioiiiieecce e s 53

First-FIOOr Framing .........coooiiiiieiee s 53

Second-FIoor Framing........cocooiiiiiiiieiee e 53

ALLIC-FIOOr FIramiNg.......cooviiiiiiiiiiieieee et 53

ROOT FraAMING ...oveeeieieeeeee ettt 54

INTENION EIBMEBNTS ..o bbb 55
Basement LEVEL ........covoiiiiee e s 55

T80 (0] Y USSP 57

S TToT0 1010 IS (0] V2SSOSR 60

ATEIC LBV ... 63

UTIIITY SYSTEIMIS ...ttt 64
HEALING SYSIEM ...t 64

PIUMBING SYSTEM.....oiiiiiiii e 65

LIgNtiNg SYSTEM.....iiiiiiiiieie st 65

Ventilation SYSTEIM ......c.oiiiiiiiee e 65



VI.

ALTERATIONS ... e 87

Early Improvements and REPAITS .......cccoivviiiiiiiiiiiie s 87
BetWeen the WOKTA WIS .....oveeiiiieie ettt ettt et e e s s s brer e e e e s s e nns 102
VAV Ao ] o (o YAV Z=Y ol 1 (TR 111
[RLo T AT o] (o IAVAY =1 i I R TTUPRRPTRT 120
CURRENT PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION ..ottt 149
EXEEEIO N EIBMEBNTS ..o ettt e e et e e et e e e e e e e ee e eeeeeeseeaan 149
1Y =] g To] ol = [T 011 41 KT TR TTORRRT 152

CHARACTER-DEFINING FEATURES

AND RECOMMENDATIONS ...ttt e 165
INTRODUCTION ..ottt ettt et se e s ene e e eneeneenes 167
EXTERIOR ELEMENTS ...t 168
INTERIOR ELEMENTS ..ottt e 171
BIBLIOGRAPHY ..ottt 175
APPENDICES ...ttt 179
APPENDIX A.  Cost Estimates for the Original Buildings at Fort Hancock................... 181
APPENDIX B.  Request for Quotation for Masonry Repairs,

BUIlding 25, 1998......ciiieeeiee s 185
APPENDIX C.  Scope of Work for Rear Porch Rehabilitation,

BUilding 25, 1999.......cciiiiiiiiee e 189
APPENDIX D.  FiNISNES StUAY ......coiviiiiiiiie it 193



LIST OF FIGURES AND CREDITS

. Building 25: original appearance of west (front) elevation, 1896 ..............cccccevvveveiieeiececse s, 13

. Map of Sandy Hook, 1873, showing locations of lighthouse, old masonry fort,

and dock. From “Portions of Middletown and Ocean Townships,” in the Beers,

Comstock & Cline Atlas of Monmouth County New Jersey. Copy of original

at Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 2255) ........cccevirieriiiiiie e 19

. Map of Sandy Hook, 1889, showing locations of roads, railroads, and structures

at Sandy Hook Proving Ground. From “Map of Sandy Hook, New Jersey.

Including the United States Reservation in Charge of the Engineer Department,”

June-July 1889. Surveyed and drawn under direction of Lieut. Col. G.L. Gillespie.

Original at the National Archives (RG77, DR 44, ST 106)........ccccuviririereneienienesesee e 20

. Map of Sandy Hook, 1892, showing proving ground structures, and the first two

batteries built for Fort Hancock. Detail of “Map of Sandy Hook, N.J.,” June 30,

1892, “showing location of Gun Lift Battery and Mortar Battery and Track-

connection with dock for hauling material.” Tracing made from survey map

of January 30, 1892. Prepared by the Corps of Engineers, U.S.A., Lieut.

Colonel G.L. Gillespie. Original at the National Archives (RG 77, OR 77,

ST 113); copy at Gateway NRA, Sandy HOOK ..........cccoieiiiiiiiiieeeee e 21

. “Fort Hancock, Sandy Hook, New Jersey,” ca. 1900. Map showing the first 36

buildings constructed at Fort Hancock. Drawn by J.M. Hilton, Quartermaster

General’s Office. Original at the National Archives (RG 77); copy at Gateway

NRA, SANAY HOOK ... ettt ettt e e e e nbe e b nbeeneenns 31

. “Fort Hancock, New Jersey,” March 21, 1908. Map showing the fort after the

construction of the separate mess halls. Drawn by J.H. Pearson, Superintendent

of Construction, Quartermaster General's Office. Original at the National

Archives (RG 92, Blueprint file #4); copy at Gateway NRA, Sandy HOOK .............cccccveveviernnnen. 36

. “U.S. Military Reservation, Fort Hancock, Sandy Hook and Vicinity of

Highlands, New Jersey,” May 31, 1927. Map showing the layout of the fort

between the World Wars. Drawn by the Army Corps of Engineers. Gateway

NRA, Sandy HOOK (Catalog #Gate L0BAT) .....ccveueiieieiieeie e siee ettt sns 37

. “Site Plan of Fort Hancock, Highlands, New Jersey,” reprinted March 1967.
Map showing expansion of the fort after World War I1. Prepared under the
direction of the First Army Engineer. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog
LT (-0 ) USSR 38

Vi



The following 13 figures are part of Plan 107, “Barrack Building,”” drawn under the direction of the
Quartermaster General’s Office and dated August 1896. They are filed in “Standard Plans, Army
Post Buildings, 1891-1918,”” Record Group 77, National Archives, with copies at Gateway NRA,
Sandy Hook.

9. Original construction drawing, west elevation (SNEet N0. 1) ......cccovvvviieiiiieiieie e 66
10. Original construction drawing, east elevation (Sheet N0. 2) ..., 67
11. Original construction drawing, transverse section and end elevation (sheet no. 3).........cc.cce..... 68
12. Original construction drawing, basement plan (Sheet N0. 4) ... 69
13. Original construction drawing, first -floor plan (Sheet N0. 5).......cccovviiiiiiiiii 70
14. Original construction drawing, second-floor plan (Sheet N0. 6) ........ccccvvieiiiiiiiiie e, 71
15. Original construction drawing, details of main cornice and windows (sheet no. 7)..........c.c......... 72
16. Original construction drawing, details of front and rear porches and cornices (sheet no. 8) ........ 73
17. Original construction drawing, details of exterior doorways and windows (sheet no. 9) ............. 74

18. Original construction drawing, details of interior doorways, stairway, iron columns,
cellar windows, and coal chute (Sheet N0. 10). .....cveiiiieii e 75

19. Original construction drawing, details of interior partitions, moldings, wainscot, and
shelves and gun rack in armory (ShEet NO. 11) .....cooiiiiiiiiii e 76

20. Original construction drawing, details of pantry shelving, mess furnishings, and
dormitory 10CKers (SNEEL NO. 12) .....cc.oiiiiiiieiicie e 77

21. Original construction drawing, steam heating plan (sheet N0. 13) ........cccocvvviiiniiniinienise s 78

The following seven photographs were owned and donated to Gateway NRA by the family of William
F. Oehler (1876-1971). He was a member of the 52" Coast Artillery, and he appears standing next
to Building 25 in figure 24. The 52™ Coast Artillery was housed in Building 25 until it left Fort
Hancock on April 8, 1901.

22. Buildings 23-25, view of west elevations, looking north, ca. 1900. Photograph
shows details of front porches and pavilion downspouts. Gateway NRA, Sandy
HOOK (Catalog #GAtE 807)......eceeiviiieiecie ittt st te e steareeste e e nreeneeans 79

23. Building 24, view of southeast corner, looking north, ca. 1900. Photograph
shows details of cornice and rear porch. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook
(CAtAlOG HGALE BOD)......eeueeirierieiiieie ettt sttt r et re et re b e 80

24. Building 25, view of southeast corner of rear porch, ca. 1900. Photograph
shows details of porch foundation, steps, and columns. Gateway NRA, Sandy
HOOK (Catalog #GAte 829)......cceeiiiieie ettt nre e nnn 81



25. Building 25, northeast corner of mess room, ca. 1900. Photograph shows
doorways to hall and kitchen, and pass-through to pantry. Gateway NRA,
Sandy HooK (catalog #Gate 8L0)........cccuiiiieiieiie ettt

26. Building 25, northeast corner of kitchen, ca. 1900. Photograph shows
five-panel door and hood over range. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook
(CALAlOY HGALE BLL).....ueeeeiiieieiiieie ettt r et et te et re et e

27. Building 25, interior of dormitory, ca. 1900. Photograph shows partition
screening NCO rooms, and original wooden lockers. Gateway NRA,
Sandy HOOK (Catalog #Gate 813).......cceiuiiiriiriirieiie ettt sttt sttt e

28. Building 25, interior of dormitory, ca. 1900. Photograph shows partition
screening NCO rooms, original wooden lockers, and original radiator.
Gateway NRA, Sandy HoOK (catalog #Gate 814) ........ccvvrierieiierie e

Some of the following historic photographs do not depict Building 25, but rather one of the other
three original barracks. These photographs have been included in this report because they provide
information on the possible appearance of the same areas in Building 25. The captions for these

figures will simply say “Barracks.”

29. Barracks, view of west pavilion, ca. 1901. Photograph shows details of front
steps and first story. Tom Mix, the future cowboy movie star, is at center front.
Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 7090) .........ccerveriiiierieiieiieseenie e

30. View of Fort Hancock from the top of Sandy Hook Light, looking west.
Photograph shows the new mess halls built behind the barracks in 1905.
Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 16865) ..........cccererererierienierierieriesiesee e

31. Basement plan, 1907-08, showing proposed recreation room. Based on original
construction drawing sheet no. 4, 1896. From National Archives, RG 92; copy
at Gateway NRA, SaNAY HOOK ........cooiiiiiiiiiieiesese et

32. First-floor plan, 1908, showing changes in room use, and proposed alterations to
floors and lavatory. Based on original construction drawing sheet no. 5, 1896.
From National Archives, RG 92; copy at Gateway NRA, Sandy HOOK............cccccevvrveneinennenne.

33. Plan titled “Remodeling Plumbing in Barracks Nos. 22-23-24-25, Fort
Hancock, N.J.,” August 1908. Gateway NRA, Sandy HOOK............ccccoccviieiiiiieiiiie e

34. Second-floor plan, 1908, showing proposed alterations to floors. Based on
original construction drawing sheet no. 6, 1896. From National Archives,
RG 92; copy at Gateway NRA, Sandy HOOK .........ccoviiiiiiiiiiiiieie e

35. Building 23, interior of dormitory, ca. 1908. The date is derived from the presence
of metal wall lockers (installed here in 1907) and a footlocker belonging to
Company 55, which left Fort Hancock in February 1909. Photograph also shows
original partition screening NCO rooms, original metal ceiling and wooden lockers,
and 1902 electric light fixtures. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 8147) ...................

viii



36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

44,

45.

46.

47.

48.

Two-company barracks (Building 74), interior of dormitory, ca. 1909-14.
Photograph shows wooden lockers. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog
HGALE 4263) ...vveveeeieieeiieieeii ettt ettt R Rt R e Rt Rt e Rt e n e Rt et e Rt e n e e Rt et et et et e ne et eneenes 100

View of main parade ground, looking southeast, ca. 1912. Photograph shows
west and north elevations of all four original barracks, and new troop quarters
built in 1908-09. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 16863) ..........ccccceveriveresierriennnns 101

Building 25, interior of dormitory, ca. 1929. Photograph shows members of
the 7™ Coast Artillery Headquarters Battery, a unit quartered in Building 25
from 1927 to 1930. Photograph also shows (at rear left) a doorway leading

to the center hall. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 1978) ........cccccevereienerieieriennns 106
Building 25, interior of dormitory (probably original day room) during

occupancy by the 52" Headquarters Battery, 1937. Gateway NRA,

Sandy HOOK (Catalog #Gate L1971).....ccuiiieieiieie ettt enes 107
View of main parade ground, looking east, 1938. Photograph shows west

elevation of Building 25. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 1133) ........cccceevrvrennnne 108
Building 25, plan of first floor, ca. 1938-42. Fort Hancock Post Record Book,

p. 120. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 221) ........cccocererereieeiienieieece e 109
Building 25, plan of second floor, ca. 1938-42. Fort Hancock Post Record Book,

p. 121. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 221) ........cccccveveiierieiinieieeieseesiesieeie e 110
View of main parade ground, looking northeast, 1943. Photograph shows

part of southwest corner of Building 25. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook
(Catalog #GAte 1943-404) ....ceeieeie ettt e et aeae e naeareenre s 113

Members of the Women’s Army Auxiliary Corps (WAAC) take the Oath of

Allegiance to become members of the newly created Women’s Army Corps

(WAC), September 1943. Photograph shows the second story of Building

25’s pavilion. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 3452) ........ccccevvveveiieieniienieneeniene 114

Members of the Women’s Army Corps celebrating their new status as full
members of the Army, by crossing out the second “A” in “WAAC,” 1943.
Photograph shows details of Building 25’s pavilion. Gateway NRA, Sandy

HOOK (Catalog #Gate 1943-683) ......coueiieiieieieieiieie ettt ettt se e enes 115
Building 25, interior of dormitory, September 21, 1943. Gateway NRA,

Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 1943-905) ......c.oiieiiiieiiiieie et 116
Building 25, interior, September 21, 1943. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook

(catalog #Gate 1943-904) ....c.eeiiiie ettt a e ae e ae e e nre s 117
Members of the Women’s Army Corps, 1944. Photograph shows part of Building

25’s pavilion. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 1944-302).......cccceeerenenenerieneenenn. 118



49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

57.

58.

59.

Members of the Women’s Army Corps and their escorts, 1943-45. Photograph
shows front doorway of Building 25. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog
LG (IR LG TSRS SPPRSTRN 119

Building 24, southeast corner of dormitory, 1956. Photograph shows beds and
lockers. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 11213)......ccccccevviiverieniieresieeniesiesieseeseens 127

Basement floor plan, 1959. Part of a drawing titled “Permanent Building Plan,

Building No. 23, 24 Barracks,” September 24, 1959. Prepared by the Office

of the Post Engineer; drawing #700-425. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook

(CAtalog HGALE 9705)....ccueeieeeeeiie ettt e e et e et e ra e te e e nreaneenre s 128

First-floor plan, 1959. Part of a drawing titled “Permanent Building Plan,

Building No. 23, 24 Barracks,” September 24, 1959. Prepared by the Office

of the Post Engineer; drawing #700-425. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook

(CAtAlOg HGALE 9705)....ccueeieieiieiieeie ittt sttt b e eebe e ne e nre s 129

Second-floor plan, 1959. Part of a drawing titled “Permanent Building Plan,
Building No. 23, 24 Barracks,” September 24, 1959. Prepared by the Office
of the Post Engineer; drawing #700-425. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook

(CALAIOY HGAE 970D5).. . cueeeiereerieieeieeeeee ettt s b s et e e e e s e e s e e se e e e st e b e b e e reeneereeneeneene e 130
Drawing titled “Rehabilitation of Latrine, Building No. 25,” July 18, 1960.

Prepared by the Office of the Post Engineer; drawing #CFH-4-61. Gateway

NRA, Sandy HooK (catalog #Gate 9606...........c.ccveiiuereiiieiieeieiieie e ee e sae e sres 131
Basement floor plan, 1964. Part of a drawing titled “Permanent Building,

Building No. 25, Brigade Hdgtrs. Bldg.,” May 6, 1964. Prepared by the
Office of the Post Engineer; drawing #700-497. Gateway NRA, Sandy
HOoOK (catalog #Gate 10368).........ccuiiiieiieiie ittt e e be e nra e nne e 132

First-floor plan, 1964. Part of a drawing titled “Permanent Building,

Building No. 25, Brigade Hdqtrs. Bldg.,” May 6, 1964. Prepared by the

Office of the Post Engineer; drawing #700-497. Gateway NRA, Sandy

HOOK (Catalog #Gate 10368)......cc.ecueiieieiiieieiieiesee et te e te e sbe e e sreesae e e bessaesnesreenses 133

Second-floor plan, 1964. Part of a drawing titled “Permanent Building,
Building No. 25, Brigade Hdgtrs. Bldg.,” May 6, 1964. Prepared by the
Office of the Post Engineer; drawing #700-497. Gateway NRA, Sandy

HOOK (Catalog #Gate 10368)......cc.ceueiirieriieiisiieie sttt sttt b et be s 134
Drawing titled “New Fire Escape Ladder to be Installed Rear Bldg. No. 25,”

June 9, 1964. Prepared by the Office of the Post Engineer; drawing #CFH

32-64. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 9603)........cccccevriiinriniinieniee e 135
Drawing titled “New Masonry Steps and Porch Deck, Bldg. No. 25,” September

3, 1964. Prepared by the Office of the Post Engineer; drawing #CFH 10-65.
Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 9604) ..........cccceerereereeiieiieie e e 136



60.

61.

62.

63.

64.

65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

70.

71.

72.

Army Reserve sign. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 907.14) .......cccccevevereriennne

West elevation, 1976. Part of a drawing titled “Building Elevations, One Company
Barracks,” September 17, 1976. Drawing no. 646/25,000, package no. 109, sheet
10 of 19. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 9186)..........ccccvrierriiienieniinniesiesesieneens

North elevation, 1976. Part of a drawing titled “Building Elevations, One Company
Barracks,” September 17, 1976. Drawing no. 646/25,000, package no. 109, sheet
10 of 19. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 9186).........cccoererrerierieeiirieeieieeeieeenea

East elevation, 1976. Part of a drawing titled “Building Elevations, One Company
Barracks,” September 17, 1976. Drawing no. 646/25,000, package no. 109, sheet
10 of 19. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 9186)..........ccecvrerririeniiniinniisie e

South elevation, 1976. Part of a drawing titled “Building Elevations, One Company
Barracks,” September 17, 1976. Drawing no. 646/25,000, package no. 109, sheet
10 of 19. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 9186)..........cccccvrverririierieniinienieseseeneens

“Details and Sections, One Company Barracks and Battery Gunnison,” September
17, 1976. Drawing no. 646/25,000, package no. 109, sheet 11 of 19. Gateway NRA,
Sandy HOOK (Catalog #Gate 9L87) .....cceiuirieriirierieiie ettt sttt

“Details, One Company Barracks,” September 17, 1976. Drawing no. 646/25,000,
package no. 109, sheet 12 of 19. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook (catalog #Gate 9188)................

“Details and Sections, One Company Barracks,” September 17, 1976. Drawing
no. 646/25,000, package no. 109, sheet 13 of 19. Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook
(Catalog H#GALE 9L89).......eieeeieeieeieeiee ettt R e n e e neeneeneene e

First-floor plan, October 20, 1998. NPS drawing by David Crotty. Sheet
one of a set of four drawings titled “Building 25 Rehab.” Gateway NRA,
SANAY HOOK ... bbbttt b e b b e bbb b e

Second-floor plan, December 23, 1998. NPS drawing by David Crotty.
Sheet two of a set of four drawings titled “Building 25 Rehab.” Gateway
NRA, SANAY HOOK ... .eoiiiiiee ettt et e sre e be e e e sbeeneesraeneenrens

East elevation, January 14, 1999. NPS drawing by David Crotty. Sheet
three of a set of four drawings titled “Building 25 Rehab.” Gateway
NRA, SANAY HOOK ..ot bbbttt sb e nbeenee b

Section of rear porch, December 14, 1998. NPS drawing by David Crotty.
Sheet four of a set of four drawings titled “Building 25 Rehab.” Gateway
NRA, SANAY HOOK ... .ottt et e b seesbe s sbeeree b

Plan of first story, showing assigned room numbers. NPS drawing by David

Crotty, October 20, 1998, Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook; annotated by Naomi
D 2 (0] | TSRS US PR URRSRR

Xi



73.

74.

75.

76.

77.

78.

79.

80.

81.

82.

83.

Plan of second story, showing assigned room numbers. NPS drawing by David
Crotty, December 23, 1998, Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook; annotated by Naomi

DL KIOI et 159
West elevation, showing replacement box cornice and fire SCape........covvererivereniierieseeieenienn, 160
East elevation, first-story doorway, showing perimeter infill with replacement door

AN OFIGINAL TFANSOM ...ttt et et et e e e e s e e ne e e ene e 160
North side of basement, partition and laundry sinks in northeast corner............ccccccoeevererienne 161
North side of basement, center of ceiling, showing concrete slab flanked by concrete

beams (added to support concrete floor in first-story 1avatory)..........cccvvvvieiiiienieie s 161
North side of basement, possible remnants of original gas Jet .........cccccvvvvrieiiniienienie e 162
Doorway from side hall to mess room, showing perimeter infill for replacement door

AN COVETEA TrANSOIM ... ..viiiiiiti ittt st b e b b e b e b e b e b et e et e b e b e e e b e b e e e ene e 162
Pantry cupboard doors stored in south side Of attiC............ccccveieiiiieiecc e 163
South dormitory, Showing 1964 PartitioNs ...........ccccereririiineie e 163
Doorway from center hall to south dormitory, showing perimeter infill with

replacement door and PaiNted traNSOM ..........c.eviiieiiiiieii e e e nrees 164
South side of attic, south wall, showing interior construction of opening for oculus ................. 164

xii



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the cheerful, patient
cooperation of several staff members at the Sandy Hook Unit, Gateway National Recreation Area.
Chief of Interpretation and Cultural Resources Lou Venuto provided direction and coordinated the
efforts of his staff. Michael Thomas, Cultural Resources Specialist, assisted us during our site visits.
Curator Mary (Trocchia) Rasa was absolutely invaluable in providing historic photographic and graphic
documentation for the report. Finally, historian Thomas Hoffman and architect David Crotty answered
numerous questions about the military and architectural history of Barracks 25, respectively.

Sharon K. Ofenstein
Naomi D. Kroll

Xiii






. INTRODUCTION







EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Significance

Building 25 is a contributing structure to the Fort Hancock and Sandy Hook Proving Ground
Historic District National Landmark, which was listed in the National Register of Historic Places on
April 24, 1980, and designated a National Historic Landmark on December 17, 1982. The district
includes approximately 380 acres and 90 significant historic buildings, as noted in the National
Register nomination. The structures represent the “history of the U.S. Army’s Ordnance Department
Proving Ground and Fort Hancock Military Reservation.”* Building 25 was among the first
structures built after the site was designated Fort Hancock in 1895. Constructed in 1897-98 to house
and support troops who manned the post’s batteries, it was one of the 32 buildings included in the
carefully designed 1896 master plan for Fort Hancock.

National Reqister of Historic Places

Fort Hancock is one of three components (Fort Hancock, Sandy Hook Proving Ground, and
the Sandy Hook lighthouse) within the historic district. It is primarily recognized for its role in the
defensive network protecting New York Harbor. The National Register denotes the district’s period
of significance as spanning from 1859, the date of the first masonry fort at the site, to the 1960’s,
when the importance of the site’s Nike missile defenses declined. The period from 1890 through
1908 saw hundreds of thousands of dollars spent on construction and armament of seacoast and
mortar batteries at Sandy Hook.” The fortifications continued to be improved all the way through the
Cold War in the 1950’s and 1960’s, including the emplacement of Nike missiles beginning in 1954.°
Thus,

The Sandy Hook Defenses (Fort Hancock) for nearly 80 years were the key
fortification guarding the approaches to America’s most important harbor
and its largest metropolis. It was during these years that the United States
defeated Spain and emerged as a world power; tipped the scales against the
Central Powers in World War I; retreated into the isolation of the 1920’s and
[19]30s; and emerged from World War 11 as a superpower.*

! Statement of Significance, National Register of Historic Places nomination, “Fort Hancock and the Sandy
Hook Proving Ground Historic District” (Richard E. Greenwood, June 28, 1976).

2 Statement of Significance, National Register nomination.
% “The Defenses of Sandy Hook” (NPS pamphlet, Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook Unit).

* Statement of Significance, National Register nomination.



National Historic Landmark

The district was given National Historic Landmark (NHL) status on December 17, 1982.
Landmark status was awarded because:

Fort Hancock and Sandy Hook Proving Ground Historic District reflects the
history of a vital defense installation guarding New York City and its harbor
from 1895 to 1974. This Landmark played a key role in the development of
advanced weaponry and radar....°

The landmark designation elected to recognize the site’s significance from the time period of
Fort Hancock’s original commission in 1895 (excluding any earlier fortification) to the time of the
fort’s deactivation in 1974.

Park Legislation

The Congressional act that established Gateway National Recreation Area did not cite the
historical merit or period of significance of any of the area’s cultural resources as a reason to
preserve and protect the tracts involved.

General Management Plan

A period of significance for the buildings of Fort Hancock is not specifically identified in the
park’s 1979 general management plan (GMP). It does state the following:

Fort Hancock served as an important component of the national defense
system from before the Spanish-American War through the early Cold War
period, when a Nike missile base was installed.... The buildings in the main
part of Fort Hancock...are of considerable historical and visual interest.”

> Statement of Significance, National Historic Landmark Program web site (http://tps.cr.nps.gov/nhl/detail.cfm?
Resourceld=1828&ResourceType=District). Prior to the awarding of NHL status, the nomination was amended (by
Harry Butowski, dated June 20, 1982) to expand the district to include the entire Sandy Hook peninsula, except for
South, Plum, and Skeleton islands. This work incorporated the U.S. Coast Guard area that was omitted from the
original nomination.

® General Management Plan, Gateway National Recreation Area, New York/New Jersey. U.S. Department of
the Interior, National Park Service, August 1979, p. 13.



A decade later, an amendment to the 1979 GMP was prepared to evaluate and update
“planning, design, and management strategies for the Sandy Hook unit to ensure that its resource
management and visitor use programs reflect current administrative policies and economic realities.””
The amendment introduced the concept of private-sector involvement in the restoration and reuse of
the northern portion of the unit, in order to “preserve the historic character of the fort
through...adaptive use of as many structures as possible.”

The amendment states that Sandy Hook contains 219 historic structures dating “from the last
quarter of the 19th through the first half of the 20™ century.” Included among the fort’s most
significant cultural resources are the “original buff-brick buildings surrounding both parade
grounds,” of which Building 25 is one.’

Historic Structure Report

A historic structure report (HSR) completed in 1988 for all of the parade-ground structures
defined the historical significance of Fort Hancock as follows:

The historical significance of Fort Hancock lies in the history of coastal
defense structures in the United States, with other significant structures
remaining associated with the first official United States Army proving
ground...."°

The report cites a July 7, 1977, memorandum entitled “Preservation at Fort Hancock, Sandy
Hook,” which reflects decisions made at a June 1977 meeting convened by Regional Director Jack
Stark of all interested NPS personnel to reach agreement on the historical period for restoration and
interpretation. This memorandum states that parade-ground structures should be restored to the
World War -1l period. However, the HSR urges caution in adopting any one restoration period for all
of the structures, since the amount of documentation available for each individual structure may not
be adequate to support that particular date. Instead, the HSR suggests “the structures at Fort
Hancock should be restored to any point in their history, based on careful case study of each
structure.”*!

" General Management Plan Amendment, Development Concept Plan and Interpretive Prospectus: Sandy Hook
Unit, Gateway National Recreation Area, New York/New Jersey (National Park Service, January 1990), p. 1.
Hereinafter GMP Amendment.

8 GMP Amendment, p. 8.

°® GMP Amendment, p. 4.

% Douglas S. Walter, Barry Sulam, Susan Simpson, and John B. Marsh, Historic Structure Report, Architectural
Data Section (Volume 1), Fort Hancock Parade Ground Structures, 1896-1899, Sandy Hook Unit, Gateway National
Recreation Area, New Jersey (Denver: U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, Denver Service

Center, Aug. 1988), p. 10. Hereinafter HSR.

1 HSR, pp. 3-5.



Building 25 and Its Context of Significance

Building 25 is significant within the context of the National Register nomination, the
National Historic Landmark designation. It was one of the 32 original structures built at Fort
Hancock in the 1890’s. It played a key role as a barracks for the troops manning the Fort Hancock
defenses throughout the history of the fort. It has particular significance related to the World War-II
period, when it was the barracks of the post’s first Women’s Army Corps contingent. Its military
associations even continued beyond the fort’s deactivation in 1974, since it was still being used after
that date for U.S. Army Reserve activities.

Integrity

Integrity, in this context, is defined as the authenticity of a property’s historic identity,
evidenced by the survival of physical characteristics that existed during its historic period; i.e., the
extent to which a property retains its historic appearance.’? This HSR recognizes the years 1898-
1974 as the broad period of significance—or historic period—for Building 25. Thus, all original
features and treatments, and all alterations made prior to 1974, are part of the “historic” appearance
of the structure. (This would include the ca.-1964 conversion of the interior of the barracks to
offices.) The most notable of the original elements and historic alterations are considered to be
“character-defining features.” Character-defining features (CDFs) are elements or treatments that
date to the period of significance, and which give a structure its distinction and character; they are
elements whose loss would diminish or destroy the structure’s architectural or historical integrity.*®
The CDFs for Building 25 are discussed in greater detail in Chapter IV.

Extant original elements of Building 25 were relatively easy to identify. Documentation that
aided this work included the original construction drawings and historic photographs. In addition,
the fact that Building 25 was one of four identical enlisted men’s barracks built next to each other
offered a unique opportunity to compare and evaluate the appearance of existing features in the
different buildings. Obtaining dates for alterations was much more difficult, due to a lack of specific
available documentation.

Building 25 was found to retain a high degree of integrity from its period of construction
through 1974, in terms of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association.
As explained by the draft historic structure report for the parade-ground structures,

The buildings remaining from the 1898-99 construction program form a
strong totality, being built of identical materials, being of compatible design,
and being sited to enclose and define several spaces (parade ground, north

12p.0. 28: Cultural Resource Management Guideline, Release No. 5 (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of
the Interior, National Park Service, 1997), p. 184.

3 Carole L. Perrault and Judith A. Quinn [Sullivan], Building 19 Historic Structure Report, Springfield Armory
National Historic Site, Springfield, Massachusetts (Boston: NPS, Building Conservation Branch, Cultural Resources
Center, 1991), Vol. I, pp. 216-216.



parade ground, [and] Kearney Road). Despite all changes over the years,
the effect intended 80 years ago still comes through.**

Notable original exterior elements of Building 25 itself include the entire envelope of the
building, with its distinctive wall material of buff-colored brick, projecting front entrance pavilion,
and symmetrical doorway and window openings. The most notable original exterior features missing
today are the two-story front porches and the one-story rear porch. (The rear porch in place today is
a reconstruction, not a replica.)

Notable original interior elements remaining include the basic first- and second-floor plans,
extraordinary stamped-metal ceilings in all first- and second-story rooms, molded doorway and
window surrounds, and matchboard wainscot in the hallways. Sashes appear to be appropriate if not
original. The most significant original interior features missing today are the five-paneled doors;
most of these have been replaced with smaller doors, with the doorway openings being partially
infilled to match. Much of the south basement has been altered, where concrete-block partitions and
a walk-in safe have been created.

Research Conducted to Produce the Historic Structure Report

This historic structure report (HSR) is intended to guide the rehabilitation of Building 25,
through (a) the documentation of its evolution, (b) the evaluation of architectural fabric relative to the
building’s period of significance, and (c) the identification of character-defining features. The level
of research for this HSR is classified as a combination of limited and thorough, both as defined in
Director’s Order 28. Archival research was limited primarily to Gateway National Recreation Area
(NRA) archives, since these appear to contain copies of much historic documentation extracted from
the National Archives by previous research efforts.”> This material includes historical documents,
photographs, and maps. Also reviewed were all existing reports and documents at the Northeast
Cultural Resources Center and the Boston Support Office.

14 Douglas S. Walter, Barry Sulam, and Susan Simpson, Architectural Data Section, Historic Structures Report,
Part One, Fort Hancock Parade Ground Structures, 1896-1899, Sandy Hook Unit, Gateway National Recreation
Area [Draft] (Denver: U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, Denver Service Center, Febh. 1979),
pp. 4-5. Hereinafter HSR Draft.

1> The most extensive of these was that conducted by NPS historian Edwin C. Bearss for his Historic Resource
Study, Fort Hancock, 1895-1948, Gateway National Recreation Area, New York/New Jersey (Denver: U.S.
Department of the Interior, National Park Service, May 1981); hereinafter HRS, 1895-1948. He states that he
performed “an exhaustive search for primary materials” at the National Archives and the Washington National
Records Center in Suitland, MD. Copies of all plans and specifications were ostensibly to the Denver Service
Center and Gateway NRA. Bearss also examined copies of the Artillery Journal and the Coast Artillery Journal.



The level of physical investigation, on the other hand, was classified as “thorough.” Exterior
and interior architectural descriptions have been provided. A list of (CDFs) identifies those elements
and features that should be preserved or their alteration avoided.”® A condition assessment is not part
of the HSR, but will be addressed by the architectural/engineering firm hired for the rehabilitation.

Major Issues Identified in the Scope of Work

All issues identified in the scope of work are addressed in this HSR. The basic goals of the
project were: (a) to determine the basic structural evolution and history of the building; (b) to
document the existing architectural conditions; (c) to identify the character-defining features; and (d)
to provide a written report of the investigative findings.

A broader directive was to discuss the period of significance of the structure, which has
received different characterizations in various discussions and publications. Another requirement
was to discuss how the period of significance will influence the park’s intention to rehabilitate the
structure for use as a visitor center, with education facilities, offices for interpretive and cultural-
resource operations, and storage for some of the park’s museum collection. The primary concern is
to formulate the proper treatment for Building 25. Given the GMP-specified treatment of
rehabilitation, the exterior could be rehabilitated, preserved, or restored. The selection of
preservation would not call for the reconstruction of the dismantled west porches, while the choice of
restoration would require their rebuilding. It will also be important to reconcile the proposed new
use of the structure with the physical changes required for treatment, in order to ensure that
character-defining features are maintained. It is also important to recognize the park’s plan to paint
the exteriors of all structures with pre-World War Il paint colors. In the case of Building 25, the
same color scheme was used from the 1930’s into at least the 1950’s.

Recommendations for Treatment or Use

The proposed rehabilitation of the structure for use as a visitor center, and as a location for
park offices and collections, is in agreement with available planning documents regarding the
management of cultural resources at the Sandy Hook Unit of Gateway NRA. The GMP amendment
of 1990 states that the management objective is to

preserve the historic character of the fort through a joint public/private
venture involving adaptive use of as many structures as possible.*’

1° Kay D. Weeks and Anne E. Grimmer, The Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic
Properties, with Guidelines for Preserving, Rehabilitating, Restoring and Reconstructing Historic Buildings
(Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, Cultural Resource Stewardship and
Partnerships, Historic Preservation Services, 1995), p. 62.

" GMP Amendment, p. 8.



A further goal is to “retain the integrity of the historic scene and to provide adaptive use through
rehabilitation of historic structures.”®

The proposed reuse is also consistent with the treatment recommended for Building 25 in the
List of Classified Structures (LCS)—i.e., rehabilitation. The Secretary of the Interior’s Standards
for the Treatment of Historic Properties defines rehabilitation as follows:

the act or process of making possible a compatible use for a property through
repair, alterations, and additions while preserving those portions or features
which convey its historical, cultural, or architectural values.*®
Additional information is provided by the National Park Service’s cultural-resource
management guideline, which states that

Rehabilitation improves the utility or function of a historic structure, through
repair or alteration, to make possible a compatible contemporary use while
preserving those portions or features that are important in defining its
significance.?

The treatment of rehabilitation would permit the proposed restoration of the exterior of
Building 25. This action would include the reconstruction of the building’s original porches, which
were important character-defining features prior to their removal in 1989-90. D.O. 28 requires only
that “Repair or replacement of missing features is substantiated by archeological, documentary, or
physical evidence.” Ample documentary and physical evidence for the porches does exist, ranging
from original measured drawings to actual pieces saved at the time of removal. The treatment of
rehabilitation would likewise permit the proposed use of the interior of Building 25 for a visitor
center, park offices, and collections. All rehabilitation activities should minimize any adverse effects
on the existing character-defining features of the building.

8 GMP Amendment, p. 9.
9 \Weeks and Grimmer, p. 61.

2p.0. 28, p. 129.



ADMINISTRATIVE DATA

Names, Numbers, and Locational Data

Building 25 is part of Fort Hancock, situated on Sandy Hook, New Jersey. The “Hook” is a
long, slender sandbar that extends northward more than six miles from the New Jersey seacoast into
Lower New York Harbor. It is located in Monmouth County, New Jersey. Most of the peninsula is a
unit of Gateway National Recreation Area. The northern tip is under the jurisdiction of the U.S.
Coast Guard, which maintains a station there.

LSC ID number: 08450
Park structure no.: SH-025
Number of UTM’s: 1 Zone/Easting/Northing

Proposed Treatment and Source Document

The List of Classified Structures places Building 25 in the Management Category “Must Be
Preserved and Maintained.” The approved ultimate treatment for the structure is rehabilitation;
Building 25 is part of the rehabilitation zone described in the General Management Plan (GMP)
Amendment of 1990.

Related Studies

Extant studies that examine Barracks 25 include the following:

Edwin C. Bearss, Historic Resource Study, Fort Hancock, 1895-1948, Gateway National
Recreation Area, New York/New Jersey (Denver: U.S. Department of the Interior, National
Park Service, May 1981).

General Management Plan Amendment: Development Concept Plan and Interpretive
Prospectus: Sandy Hook Unit, Gateway National Recreation Area, New York/New Jersey
(NPS, January 1990).

Richard E. Greenwood, National Register of Historic Places nomination, “Fort Hancock and
the Sandy Hook Proving Ground Historic District,” June 28, 1976.

Historic Structure Assessment Report, Fort Hancock-Building 25, Barracks, Gateway

National Recreation Area, Sandy Hook Unit (Douglasville, GA: Architectural Conservation
Center,1989-1990).
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Douglas S. Walter, Barry Sulam, Susan Simpson, and John B. Marsh, Historic Structure
Report, Architectural Data Section (Volume 1), Fort Hancock Parade Ground Structures,
1896-99, Sandy Hook Unit, Gateway National Recreation Area (Denver: U.S. Department of
the Interior, National Park Service, Denver Service Center, August 1988).

Recommendations for Care of Materials Generated

Most of the materials were copies of documents in Gateway NRA files. The research
materials gathered during the production of this report will be filed at the Northeast Building
Conservation Branch (NBCB) in Lowell, MA. Copies of any new research material obtained will be
sent to the park. Photographs, drawings, and text used for the purposes of report publication will
remain at the NBCB. Copies of the final unpublished report will be kept at the park and the NBCB.
Copies of the published report, when they become available, will be kept at park, the NBCB, and the
Denver Service Center’s Technical Information Center.
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BRIEF ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION

Building 25 is located along the north edge of the main parade ground, facing west across the
parade ground toward Officers’ Row and to Sandy Hook Bay beyond. The main block of the
structure is a long, two-story, gable-roofed rectangle oriented north-south; a pedimented projecting
pavilion is centered on the west elevation. The foundation consists of a rough ashlar trap rock-
probably rhyolite—obtained from the Hudson Palisades. Between the foundation and the wall surface
is a limestone water table. The walls are of buff-colored brick with very thin mortar joints and a
heavily molded cornice at the eaves. Doorway and window openings are arranged symmetrically.
Most window openings are rectangular, with hidden steel lintels supporting buff-brick jack arches
and 12-over-12 double-hung sashes. A Palladian-like window ornaments the second story of the
pavilion, while elliptical oculi are used in the gable of the pavilion, and in the north and south gable
ends of the main block. Only portions remain of two original two-story porches that ran the full
length of west (front) elevation on either side of the projecting pavilion. A one-story porch that
covers the center four bays of the east (rear) elevation is a 2000 reconstruction. The roof is clad with
asphalt shingles, and features one conical galvanized-steel ventilator (a second one is missing) and a
corbeled brick chimney. The interior contains two stories, a full basement, and an unfinished attic.
Structural elements include brick bearing walls and timber framing.

Stylistically, Building 25 exhibits classic Colonial Revival characteristics. The exaggerated
cornice and its returns, the corbeled brick chimney, the limestone belt course, the 12-over-12 window
sashes, the jack-arch window lintels, and the yellow color of the brick all may be interpreted as
Colonial Revival features.

12
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BACKGROUND

Sandy Hook is a narrow barrier island that extends about six and a half miles northward from
the New Jersey coast into the outer harbor of New York City. Its importance derives from the fact
that the only natural deepwater channel into the harbor runs very close to the tip of Sandy Hook. As
early as 1680, the English governor Nichols suggested building a navigational beacon on Sandy
Hook, with a fort to protect it. A lighthouse was finally built in 1764 (see fig. 2), but no fort. As a
consequence, a British fleet was able to sail into the harbor in 1776 and land an army that captured
New York City. British troops and Tories then erected a stockade around the Sandy Hook lighthouse
and placed two six-pound cannon in the tower.!

Having learned a hard lesson, the American army during the War of 1812 built and
garrisoned a wooden stockade fort named Fort Gates, located about a third of a mile north of the
Sandy Hook lighthouse. The fortification prevented British ships from returning to the sheltered
anchorage at Sandy Hook, but the American troops were withdrawn at the end of the war, and the
temporary fortifications and camps were left to deteriorate.? The federal government remained aware
of Sandy Hook’s importance, though, and in 1817 it acquired title to the entire peninsula from the
Hartshorne family.?

An integrated system of masonry fortifications was in place to protect New York’s inner
harbor by the 1850’s. The advent of steam-powered ships and longer-range artillery, however, made
it necessary to add defenses around the outer portion of the harbor. Planning for a massive granite
fort on Sandy Hook was begun in 1857, with construction commencing in 1859. Figure 2 shows the
location of the “Fort at Sandy Hook” and the government dock that serviced it. The outbreak of the
Civil War accelerated the work, and in 1863 troops were assigned to the fort to man the armament
and guard public property.* However, the introduction of rifled artillery during the war made the fort
obsolete before it could be completed, and work on it was stopped in 1868.° Interestingly, the need
to keep abreast of just such innovations in weaponry caused the U.S. Army Ordnance Department to
establish the nation’s first proving ground at Sandy Hook in 1874. A “proof” battery was built by
Army engineers and manned by Army Ordnance Officers, to “prove”—or test-new artillery.® Figure 3
shows the roads and structures of the Sandy Hook Proving Ground in 1889.

! Douglas S. Walter, Barry Sulam, Susan Simpson, and John B. Marsh, Historic Structure Report, Architectural
Data Section (Volume 1), Fort Hancock Parade Ground Structures, 1896-1899, Sandy Hook Unit, Gateway National
Recreation Area, New Jersey (Denver: U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, Denver Service
Center, Aug. 1988), p. 16. Hereinafter HSR.

2 Statement of Significance for Fort Hancock, National Register of Historic Places nomination, “Fort Hancock
and the Sandy Hook Proving Ground Historic District” (Richard E. Greenwood, June 28, 1976).

3 George H. Moss, Jr., Nauvoo to the Hook (Locust, NJ: Jervey Close Press, 1964), p. 57.

* General Management Plan Amendment, Development Concept Plan and Interpretive Prospectus: Sandy Hook
Unit, Gateway National Recreation Area, New York/New Jersey (National Park Service, January 1990), p. 22.
Hereinafter GMP Amendment.

® Statement of Significance for Fort Hancock, National Register nomination.

® “Fort Hancock” (NPS pamphlet, Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook Unit).
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Defensive fortifications became an important issue once again toward the end of the 19"
century. A number of European nations had begun rebuilding their battle fleets to extend their power
and influence around the world. Around 1884 the U.S. Congress began to authorize larger
expenditures for the armament program, and in 1886 a powerful board appointed by President
Cleveland (the “Endicott Board”) called for a comprehensive defense system to protect primary U.S.
ports from naval attack.” These defenses were to include high-powered guns and mortars mounted
in concrete emplacements designed to blend into the seashore environment for protection and
camouflage; submarine mine fields; floating batteries and torpedo boats; and rapid-fire guns to
protect the minefields.®

Because of New York Harbor’s geographical and commercial importance, Sandy Hook was
chosen as the site for the first of these massive concrete emplacements.® Two Endicott batteries were
constructed by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and armed by the Ordnance Department. First to
be finished was the Sandy Hook Mortar Battery, in 1894. This was the first operational concrete gun
battery of its type ever built for the defense of American harbors. It contained 16 12-inch mortars
designed to lob armor-piercing projectiles through the decks of enemy ships. Completed shortly
thereafter was “Lift Gun Battery No. 1” (later renamed Battery Potter), which contained two 12-inch
seacoast guns. This was America’s first “disappearing” gun battery, and the only one ever to raise
and lower its guns by steam power.’® An 1892 map (fig. 4) shows both of these batteries under
construction.

These two Endicott batteries began a nationwide system of concrete coastal defense
fortifications constructed between 1890 and 1910. Other batteries constructed at Sandy Hook
between 1896 and 1909 were Batteries Reynolds, McCook, Alexander, Bloomfield, Richardson,
Granger, Halleck, and Arrowsmith. In addition, the rapid-fire batteries Engle, Urmston, Peck,
Morris, and Gunnison were emplaced to protect the fort’s minefield.'

Some of the most advanced artillery of the time was thus in place by the fall of 1895.
However, the fort had no name, no garrison to care for and fire the guns, and no buildings to house
such a garrison. The first problem was remedied on October 30, 1895, when the Secretary of War
signed General Order 57, designating the fortifications on Sandy Hook as Fort Hancock. Fort
Hancock was named after Major General Winfield Scott Hancock (1824-86), a soldier and later
politician best known for his leadership during the Civil War.*> However, no troops were assigned to
the newly named Fort Hancock fort at that time.

" Edwin C. Bearss, NPS memorandum, February 20, 1976, p. 2. Boston Support Office Archives.

8 Statement of Significance for Fort Hancock, National Register nomination.

® Thomas J. Hoffman and Howard Kenngott, “Fort Hancock” (NPS booklet, Gateway NRA, Sandy Hook Unit).

10 Battery Potter proved too expensive to build, and too slow to operate. Subsequent disappearing batteries used
a counterbalance system to raise and lower their guns (“The Defenses of Sandy Hook,” NPS pamphlet, Gateway
NRA, Sandy Hook Unit).

1 Bearss, NPS memorandum, pp. 5-7.

2 Edwin C. Bearss, Historic Resource Study, Fort Hancock, 1895-1948, Gateway National Recreation Area,

New York/New Jersey (Denver: U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, May 1981), pp. 6-8.
Hereinafter HRS, 1895-1948.
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Figure 2. Map of Sandy

Hook, 1873, showing

locations of lighthouse,
old masonry fort, and

dock.
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Figure 3. Map of Sandy Hook, 1889, showing locations of roads, railroads, and structures at Sandy Hook Proving Ground.
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Figure 4. Map of Sandy
Hook, 1892, showing
proving ground structures,
and the first two batteries
built for Fort Hancock.




PLANNING THE FORT

Approval and Initial Estimates

The Commander of the Department of the East-Major General Thomas Ruger—was
concerned about the lack of a garrison at Sandy Hook. On March 27, 1896, he sent a letter to the
War Department recommending that facilities for a garrison of four batteries be built at Fort
Hancock. He noted that such action would not only make the Sandy Hook batteries operational, but
also provide a place for other artillery commands to train while their batteries were being constructed
elsewhere.™

The military post was to share Sandy Hook with the already-established proving ground
located on the northeast portion of the peninsula. The proving ground operated under the direction of
the Ordnance Department. The military post would operate under the direction of the U.S. Army
Corps of Artillery. To avoid friction between the branches, the proving ground and the military post
were to be run by separate commanding officers. Also occupying the north end of Sandy Hook were
the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, the U.S. Life-Saving Service, and an office of the Western Union
Telegraph Company.*

General Ruger forwarded with his recommendation a topographical map of Sandy Hook, a
sketch “showing how the necessary Buildings for a Military Post of Four Batteries of Artillery”
might be positioned, and estimates for the cost of constructing those buildings. These documents
were based on information gathered by General Ruger during a visit to Sandy Hook earlier in March,
accompanied by his chief quartermaster, Colonel Charles G. Sawtelle. It was Colonel Sawtelle who
prepared the construction estimates (see Appendix A), in accordance with General Ruger’s
instructions.™

Sawtelle based his computations on the assumption that the basic construction material would
be brick, although wooden buildings would cost about one-quarter less. He believed that the use of
brick was justified by the following factors: permanency of occupation, necessity for solid
construction to withstand high winds, low cost of repairs, and the desirability of keeping combustible
materials to a minimum in buildings so close to the batteries.’® His estimates were based on the cost
of similar structures erected at other army posts, particularly at Fort Ethan Allen.'” Sawtelle’s
estimate provides a brief description of 22 of the original buildings erected at Fort Hancock.

Apparently General Ruger received a favorable response to his letter, because planning for
the fort continued. Colonel Sawtelle instructed Captain Arthur Murray, a Quartermaster Officer, to
draw up a master plan for the site and construction plans for post buildings.

B HRs, 1895-1948, p. 9.
Y HRs, 1895-1948, p. 14.
> HRs, 1895-1948, p. 9.
18 HRs, 1895-1948, p. 10.

Y HRs, 1895-1948, pp. 9-11.
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Site Selection and Plans

Captain Murray chose a site southwest of the proving ground for Fort Hancock, and his
selection was confirmed by the Quartermaster General’s Office in May 1896."* His first
consideration seems to have been the location of the barracks for the enlisted men, including
Building 25. He wanted these barracks to be positioned on

the high ground west of the batteries.... To keep the post’s facilities from
becoming too scattered, and to permit the men to be near the g)arade ground,
the barracks were to be sited southwest of the mortar battery.*

(See figure 6 for the relationship of the barracks to the mortar battery.) The quarters for the officers
were to be “located with reference to the barracks for the organizations to which they belong.””
These considerations were addressed in Murray’s master plan, which was based on the juxtaposition
of two parade grounds, a central and a secondary parade. The central and secondary parades were set
on a north/south axis with the buildings organized around the perimeters of the parades. The central
parade was semicircular, with the arc facing east. A row of officers’ quarters defined the western
perimeter of the central parade and faced Sandy Hook Bay. Four enlisted-men’s barracks were
planned for the eastern arc of the central parade facing the parade. The hospital anchored the
southern bound of the central parade.

The secondary parade adjoined the central parade on the north. It was long and triangular,
with its apex to the north. Like the central parade, its western perimeter was defined by a row of
officers’ quarters facing Sandy Hook Bay. The east leg of the parade triangle was occupied by
utilitarian and service-related buildings essential to the efficient operation of the fort. Among the
buildings planned for the east leg of the secondary parade were the stables, wagon shed, shops,
bakery, storehouses, fuel shed, and guardhouse. Anchoring the south boundary of the secondary
parade was an officer’s quarters and the administration building.

Captain Murray also had strong opinions as to how the post’s structures should be designed.
While at least some of his building plans were virtual copies of similar structures at other posts, such
as that for the quartermaster and commissary storehouse (Building 32), his plans for housing
reflected thoughtful concern. For example, he believed that the plan for the new barracks should be
governed by the factors of utility, comfort, “beauty of architecture,” and cost of construction.
Apparently little attention had been paid to the first two of these factors in the construction of earlier
barracks elsewhere.” He changed the original concept for two double sets of two-company barracks
to four single-company barracks, and he provided front and rear porches, to make the barracks as
comfortable as possible in the summer.

8 HRs, 1895-1948, p. 23.
¥ HRs, 1895-1948, pp. 15-16.
% HRS, 1895-1948, p. 16.

2L HRS, 1895-1948, p. 18.
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The following passage in the HRS, made concerning the officers’ quarters, explains Murray’s
actions.

The double sets of quarters that had been built during recent years at most
army posts were not deemed suitable for Sandy Hook, where the slightest
summer breeze was “hailed with delight,” and where only one of a double
set, depending ugon the direction of the prevailing winds, received what
breeze there was.*

Captain Murray argued that it would be cheaper in the long run to build “rather substantial masonry”
porches, rather than wooden ones that would need frequent repairs. He also avoided the use of any
“gingerbread work” that would need continual maintenance. Murray’s designs for the buildings were
influenced by his consultations with the architectural firm of John M. Carrére and Thomas Hastings
(personal friends of Murray’s), as well as by existing precedents at similar military installations.?

Estimates for the construction of a four-battery post at Fort Hancock were finalized by the
Quartermaster General’s office by the end of July 1896. On August 3, Acting Quarter Master
General George H. Weeks recommended to Secretary of War Daniel S. Lamont that an expenditure
of $339,600 be authorized for site preparation and the 32 necessary structures. Facilities for the new
garrison were to include four permanent enlisted men’s barracks, officers’ quarters, storehouses, a
hospital, a guardhouse, and an administration building. Two days later, Secretary Lamont approved
the recommended expenditure.?

Technicians in the Quartermaster General’s office had also prepared a revised site plan and
construction drawings based on Murray’s site plan and conceptual drawings. Captain Murray had
been transferred to Yale University by that time, but he was given the opportunity to review the
revised site plan and drawings, and he made a few suggestions that were incorporated into those
documents.®® On September 14, 1896, the final site plan and construction plans for 14 of the 32
structures were forwarded to the Secretary of War and promptly approved. This original site plan
remains the core of Fort Hancock today, as shown in figure 5.

2 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 19.

8 HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 19-20. Carrére and Hastings was a distinguished New York architectural firm that
executed “an impressive array of commissions for country estates, public buildings, commercial structures, and city-
planning schemes” [Long Island Country Homes and Their Architects, 1860-1940, edited by Robert B. MacKay,
Anthony K. Baker, and Carol A. Traynor (Society for the Preservation of Long Island Antiquities, in association
with W.W. Norton & Company, New York and London, 1997), pp. 27, 98].

* HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 25-27.

% HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 24-25.
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BUILDING THE FORT

Site Preparations

Once the plans were approved and monies appropriated, the construction of Fort Hancock
began in earnest. Site preparation had begun in July 1896 under the direction of Col. James M.
Moore of the Quartermaster General’s office. The first task was to clear the site of underbrush. This
was accomplished by late August.?® The next project was to level and grade the area, which had
“hills and hollows varying from 3 to 15 feet in depth and extending from 50 to 300 feet in length.”*’
This work was completed by early spring of 1897. Another task was to construct a railroad spur
from the ordnance railroad to run behind the storehouses along the eastern bound of the secondary
parade. A standard-gauge 2,200-foot railroad spur was completed in January 1897.* Roadways also
needed to be opened,® and artesian wells needed to be drilled.*

Construction of Buildings

Moore was also the New York depot quartermaster, and he soon found that he did not have
enough time to directly supervise the work at Fort Hancock. This task was assigned to his assistant,
Captain Carroll A. Devol, in September 1896.*> On October 31, 1896, Devol advertised for bids for
erecting 32 buildings and a bake oven. He received 39 proposals. The low bid of $218,115 was
offered by Thomas J. Regan of Newark, New Jersey. On December 15, 1896, Regan signed a
contract that included the construction of four barracks at $16,975 each.®

It should be noted that Regan’s contract for 32 buildings and a bake oven was only one of
several construction efforts at Fort Hancock in the years 1897-99. Running concurrently with his
contract was one with Warren H. Jenkins & Co. of Philadelphia, to build one bachelor officers’
quarters and a quarters for the engineer in charge of the pumping station.** Neither contract included
a hospital and a hospital steward’s quarters, both of which had been part of Colonel Sawtelle’s

%6 HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 34-35.
2" HRS, 1895-1948, p. 35.
% HRS, 1895-1948, p. 41.
2 HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 42-43.
%0 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 36.
31 HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 43-44.
%2 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 36.
% HRS, 1895-1948, p. 52.

% HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 74-76.
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original proposal.*® These were built separately, as buildings 19 and 20. Three other structures were

added at about the same time: a Plumber’s Quarters (21), a Firemens’ Dormitory (34), and a
Quartermaster Latrine (44).%

The exterior walls of Regan’s buildings were to consist of buff-colored face brick. Captain
Murray had apparently specified this material in his original plans, even though his architect friends
Carrere and Hastings advised him that it would be more expensive. Buff brick would cost $32 per
thousand for bricks, mortar, and labor, as opposed to $22 per thousand for red brick. The $10
difference was largely “because better quality brick necessitated more careful workmanship.”?’
Captain Devol made a study of possible brick types before requesting bids for construction. He liked
a type called the Ridgeway, made by Orrin D. Person, which was endorsed by the Quartermaster
General.® However, Regan was apparently allowed to specify a different buff-colored brick in his
proposal.®®* His bricks were to come from the Clearfield Clay Working Company of Clearfield,
Pennsylvania.”® The brick was to be laid with rowlock joints.** Sand from Sandy Hook beaches may
have been employed in the common mortars used in the masonry construction.*

The foundation and underpinning material was to be dark “trap rock” from the Hudson
Palisades.*® Captain Devol had initially intended for these features to be of light-colored limestone
classed as marble. However, the quarry intended to supply the limestone (located on the upper part
of Manhattan Island near King’s Bridge) did not have enough to supply all the buildings. At Regan’s
suggestion, the foundation and underpinning material was changed to the trap rock. Doorway and
window lintels and sills (“trimmings”) were to be of limestone described as “a dark or colored stone
classed as blue.”*

% HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 11, 26.

% HSR, pp. 13-14.

%" HRS, 1895-1948, p. 23.

% HRS, 1895-1948, p. 46.

% HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 49-50.

0 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 67-68.

*' HRS, 1895-1948, p. 55.

*2 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 65. Bearss’ discussion of materials used for interior plastering refers to specifications that
call for common lime mortar made with sand from Sandy Hook. It is not known if this mortar was used for masonry

construction at the fort.

*% Webster’s New Collegiate Dictionary defines trap rock as “any [of] various dark-colored fine-grained igneous
rocks used esp. in road making.”

* HRS, 1895-1948, p. 54.
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Slate was to be Brownsville roofing slate measuring 14 by 10 inches, 14 by 12 inches, 16 by
12 inches, or 16 by 11 inches. The slate actually employed in Building 25 is believed to have been
Peach Bottom (PA. S-2).%

Woodwork and finished lumber such as the window frames were to be furnished by the
Chapin Hall Lumber Co. of Newark, New Jersey. A visit by Captain Devol to the Chapin Hall
factory found the firm's workmanship and materials to be of high quality.*

Three other bids were accepted for additional items, as follows:

Proposal 20, Leonard & Stratton of Columbus, Ohio, for installing plumbing
in the buildings for $14, 243.

Proposal 37, A.W. Rutherford & Co. of New York City, New York, for
installing steam heating in 24 buildings for $22,066.

Proposal 20, Leonard & Stratton, for installing gas pipes in 28 buildings for
$1,327."

Construction was slated to begin about March 1, 1897, after clearing and grading was
complete.”® However, Regan abandoned the contract on April 8, 1897. The contract was assumed by
his bondsmen: local businessmen Gottfried Krueger, M.A. Mullin, and Martin Burne. After some
renegotiations between these men and the U.S. government, work began at the end of April, with no
change in the materials to be used or the completion date of October 31.%°

The work proceeded very slowly throughout the summer, due to multiple subcontractors
operating without coordination, labor and materials shortages, strikes, storms, and the sandy
topography and general inaccessibility of the site. (Edwin Bearss’ historic resource study contains a
detailed account of the difficulties.) An inspection of the site on June 14, 1897, revealed that the
work was well behind schedule.® Obtaining buff bricks of consistent size and color was a major
problem. Captain Devol finally had to go out to the kiln in Pennsylvania to supervise the selection of
the face brick.>* None of the structures at Fort Hancock was completed before winter set in, so work
was suspended until the spring of 1898.

> HRS, 1895-1948, p. 56. Peach Bottom (PA. S-2) slate is the type found on all of the Fort Hancock buildings
examined or treated thus far.

*® HRS, 1895-1948, p. 55.
*" HRS, 1895-1948, p. 51.
* HRS, 1895-1948, p. 52.
* HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 56-60.
%0 HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 61-63.

1 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 68.
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Pressure to finish the structures at Fort Hancock intensified unexpectedly with the sinking of
the battleship Maine on February 15, 1898. Four days later, a 20-man detachment from the Fifth
U.S. Artillery landed at Fort Hancock as an advance echelon, to prepare a camp for a battalion of
heavy artillery. Tents were pitched and a camp site was cleared behind the old masonry fort. On
March 14, Fort Hancock was officially garrisoned by the arrival of two full batteries from the Fifth
Artillery; they were reinforced on March 19 by two additional batteries.® Captain Devol had
requested a transfer to “any active service,” and he was ordered to the Philippine Islands on May 24,
1898. He turned over his Fort Hancock duties to 1* Lt. Edward F. McGlacklin and “boarded the first
train leaving New York for San Francisco.”™® Less than four weeks later, on June 17, McGlacklin
was replaced on the project by Captain George G. Bailey. Bailey had been Captain Devol’s chief
clerk at Fort Hancock since September 1896.

Despite the pressure generated by the war and the presence of inadequately housed troops on
Sandy Hook, work on the buildings progressed as slowly during the summer of 1898 as it had done
the previous year, due to the same problems. Seven of the contracted 32 buildings were finally
completed by August 11. They were the two double sets of noncommissioned officers’ quarters, the
coal shed, the quartermaster and commissary storehouse, the bake house and ovens, the workshop,
and the wagon shed. However, now Bailey faced a new problem. The garrison—-which now included
three batteries of regular artillery and two companies of New Jersey volunteers—had moved into four
of the structures before they were formally accepted and full and final payment made for them.**

This placed the Army in a hard position. Article 5 of its contract allowed it to withhold 20
percent of the cost of a building until the structure was completely finished and accepted. However,
the occupation of a building by troops amounted to its de facto acceptance. The army would have to
release the retained 20 per cent to the contractors and give up any hope of getting them to complete
any work remaining to be done. Extremely complicated negotiations ensued. Full payment for the
two noncommissioned officers’ quarters (Buildings 29 and 30) was authorized October 3. Full
payment was authorized for the other five structures (Buildings 31-35) at about the same time, but
apparently only the 80 percent was actually paid.>

Work continued to drag through the fall, due primarily to labor and materials shortages. On
September 27, post commander Captain Foster called for Captain Bailey to

accept four sets of officers’ quarters, two barracks, and the post hospital, as
soon as they were completed by the contractors.... These buildings, Foster
had been told, would be finished by mid-October, and it was “very desirable
that the garrison...get out of camp and under roof by that date on account of
cold weather.”®

52 HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 168.

% HRS, 1895-1948, p. 90.

> HRS, 1895-1948, p. 96.

% HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 96-100.

% HRS, 1895-1948, p. 109.
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The slow pace of construction continued. Bailey had told Captain Foster that “none of the
structures were to be used for any purpose by the garrison until they were [completely finished and]
ready to be turned over.”’ By mid-November, however, Captain Foster and his officers had moved
into lieutenants’ quarters 1-3, and the troops had broken camp and moved into barracks 24 and 25.
The Army thus decided to release the retained percentages on the lieutenants’ quarters 1-3, barracks
24 and 25, coal shed 31, quartermaster and commissary storehouse 32, bake house 33, workshop 34,
and wagon shed 35.%

Work continued, albeit slowly, through the winter. On January 25, 1899, Captain Bailey
reported that 16 of the 32 buildings were completed, and most of them were occupied by the
garrison. Seven were near completion, and nine were about half finished.”® Krueger, Mullin, and
Burne were placed on notice that any work not completed by June 30 would be taken out of their
hands.® On June 26, Captain Bailey listed 16 structures as completed, accepted, and paid for. These
were lieutenants’ quarters 1-6, barracks 24 and 25, noncommissioned officers’ quarters 29 and 30,
coal shed 31, quartermaster and commissary storehouse 32, bake house and bake oven 33, workshop
34, wagon shed 35, and quartermaster stable 36. Finally, in late September 1899, the last of the 32
structures in Thomas Regan’s original contract were accepted by Captain Bailey and turned over to
the post commander. These were lieutenants’ quarters 7-8 and 16-18, captains’ quarters 9-11 and 13-
15, commanding officer’s quarters 12, and barracks 22-23. Figure 5 shows the locations of most of
the earliest buildings.

Utilities and Landscaping®

Additional concerns for the Constructing Quartermasters at Fort Hancock were the
installation of sewage and lighting systems, and landscaping. The sewer system was completed
(wells drilled, pumping plant erected, water tanks in place, pump connections made, and boilers
installed) by April 30, 1899.%

" HRS, 1895-1948, p. 119.
%8 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 121.
* HRS, 1895-1948, p. 123.
%0 HRs, 1895-1948, p. 127.

%1 This section relies heavily on documentary research performed for the historic structure report for Building 32
at Fort Hancock, written in 1993 by Judith Q. Sullivan of the Northeast Cultural Resources Center.

82 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 138.
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Information about the gas lighting system at Fort Hancock is minimal. The use of gas street
lighting at the fort was approved on November 28, 1898,% and 26 of the original 32 buildings were
built with interior gas lighting.* The source of the gas is unclear. The most common method of
making gas in the 19" century was by processing coal.®* The most logical way of supplying gas to
the fort’s street lights and numerous buildings would have been via a central gas-generating plant and
underground pipes. No such generating plant was included in the lists of original buildings,*® and
none of the early maps show underground gas lines.*” These facts might suggest that each building
had its own separate gas-producing equipment. However, this seems unlikely. While such
equipment was available at the time, primarily for use at country estates,®® it would have been
impractical for such a large site as Fort Hancock. Also, underground gas lines must have existed for
the streetlights, so their absence from early maps does not prove they did not exist. Original
buildings that may have related to gas production at Fort Hancock include the “fuel” or coal shed
(31) and the Firemen’s Dormitory (33).%

Landscaping was an ongoing struggle in the shifting sands of Sandy Hook. Efforts began in
September 1898 when $33,133.30 was allotted for constructing roads, curbs and walks, and putting
down topsoil.”® However, in 1900 the post commander wrote that the parade ground and areas
around the buildings were “a waste of loose sand.” Thousands of tons of drift sand had blown over
the macadamized roads and brick walks during the winter. Some of the dunes were level with the
tops of the lampposts. In other areas “the former surface had been cut out and swept away to a depth
of from two to five feet.”* A second landscaping effort of the main parade ground and areas around
staff noncommissioned officers’ quarters, the guardhouse, and barracks was begun in August 1901; it
included grading, application of top soil, and reseeding. In addition, many gravel walks were
replaced with flagstone, concrete walkways were laid, and macadam roadways constructed over
former sand trails.”

® HRS, 1895-1948, p. 138.

® HRS, 1895-1948, p. 108.

6 Denys Peter Myers, Gaslighting in America: A Guide for Historic Preservation (Washington, D.C.: U.S.
Department of the Interior, Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service, Office of Archeology and Historic
Preservation, Technical Preservation Services Division), p. 7.

% HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 10-11, 26; HSR, pp. 13-14.

o7 Sandy Hook Unit historian Thomas Hoffman to Sharon Ofenstein, Jan. 29, 2002.

% Barbara A. Yocum, The House at Glenmont, Home of Thomas Edison, Historic Structure Report (Lowell,
MA: U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, North Atlantic Region, Cultural Resources Center,
1998), p. 824.

% HSR, pp. 13-14.

O HRS, 1895-1948, p. 141.

™ HRS, 1895-1948, p. 210.

2 HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 218-221.
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USE OF FORT HANCOCK, 1899-1974"

By 1898, Fort Hancock was occupied by two companies of the Fifth U.S. Artillery, whose
job it was to man the mortar and rapid-gun batteries of the New York harbor defenses. A U.S.
Engineer Battalion, New Jersey Volunteer Infantry battalions, the Ordnance Department, and the
U.S. Corps of Engineers were also present at Fort Hancock in 1898-99.

Fort Hancock became an important post between 1900 and 1914, garrisoned by four to six
companies of the U.S. Coast Artillery, whose mission was the “care and use of the fixed and movable
elements of land and coast fortifications, including the submarine mine and torpedo defenses.”” In
addition, the Coast Artillery and the National Guard held training, practice, drills, and exercises at the
post.”” Some 25 permanent buildings were added to the post during this period, as evidenced by a
1908 site plan (fig. 6). Among the new buildings were the Saw Mill (48), Ordnance Storehouse (50),
Fire House (51), NCO Quarters duplex (52), Mess Halls (55-58), Hothouse (59), Icehouse (60),
Civilian Employee Bldg. (63), Firemen’s Quarters (64), Ordnance Storehouse (65), Civilian Quarters
(66), Trestle Guardhouse (67), Quarantine Stables (68), New Crematory (69), NCO Quarters (71-72),
Artillery Barracks (74), NCO Quarters duplex (75), Fire Station (76), Firemen’s Quarters (77), Oil
and Paint Storehouse (79), Civilian Barracks (80), YMCA Building (40), Post Exchange Bldg. (53),
and Gymnasium and Bowling Alley (70).

During World War | the forces assigned to Sandy Hook were strengthened. In addition, Fort
Hancock served as a training base for artillery units before they were sent to France.”® Temporary
cantonments (barracks, mess halls, quarters, and latrines) were constructed to house the swelling
population. At the height of the war 4,043 officers and men were stationed there, excluding the
proving-ground and ordnance-supply personnel.”” That number fell to 2,324 by November 1918
(Armistice Day), and Fort Hancock became an entry post for returning troops to demobilize.”
Demobilization was rapid, and by June 1919 the force assigned to the Sandy Hook defenses had been
reduced to eight officers and 362 men (four companies).” Temporary cantonment buildings were
slowly salvaged, demolished, razed, or destroyed by fire.*®°

"3 This section relies partially on documentary research performed for the historic structure report for Building
32 at Fort Hancock, written in 1993 by Judith Q. Sullivan of the Northeast Cultural Resources Center.

" HRS, 1895-1948, p. 176.

® HRS, 1895-1948, p. 189.

"® Bearss, NPS memorandum, p. 6.
" HRS, 1895-1948, p. 365.

8 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 399.

" HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 403-404.

% HRs, 1895-1948, pp. 474-480.
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America after World War | was strongly isolationistic, and military policy focused on a small
army, a reserve force, and a large navy. As a result, activity at Sandy Hook slowed considerably, and
the force of the garrison fluctuated from 300 to 700 men throughout the 1920’s and 1930’s. During
this time, Fort Hancock hosted summer encampments and training for the National Guard, the
Citizen Military Training Camp (CMTC), and the Army Reserve.® It also participated in Army-
Navy war games, maneuvers, and communication exercises. No significant permanent buildings
were added to the post in the 1920’s. Figure 7 shows the layout of the fort in 1927. However, during
the 1930’s (especially after the New Deal’s public works programs began) a number of structures
were built, and many existing structures were repaired and improved.

During World War 1l Fort Hancock played a “vital role in the coastal and anti-aircraft
defense of America’s most important port and metropolitan area....”® Fort Hancock was part of a
Joint Defense Plan, under which it had the mission of

maintaining a close surveillance of all beaches, resisting hostile landings,
providing antiaircraft defense, and establishing a liaison between all
elements of the command-the navy and units in adjacent subsectors.®

In addition, Fort Hancock served as a training base and staging area for units being readied for
service overseas. As Edwin Bearss writes:

In 1943, the modernization program being rushed to completion, the New
York subsector and the harbor defenses reached their apogee of strength and
efficiency.®

The number of troops stationed at Fort Hancock fluctuated from 7,000 to more than 12,000. A vast
construction program was carried out to service the exploded population. More than 200 temporary
structures were erected, including barracks, mess halls, latrines, recreation halls, infirmaries, nurses’
quarters, garages, and warehouses.®

By March 1944, Allied successes and the need to reinforce troops in combat led to a
reduction in the personnel of the harbor defenses of New York. The command was pared to 71
officers, 22 warrant officers, and 1,917 enlisted men.** However, during the redeployment of troops
following V-E Day (May 8, 1945), and during the rapid demobilization that followed V-J Day
(August 14, 1945), Fort Hancock became one of the Atlantic Coast’s busiest reception centers for
troops returning from the European Theater of operations.®’

81 HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 433-437.
8 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 573.
8 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 534.
8 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 549.
% HRS, 1895-1948, p. 598.
8 HRs, 1895-1948, p. 560.

8 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 573.
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The immediate postwar years saw the United States drastically reduce its defense spending.
The atomic bomb, missiles, and innovations in radar and air power rendered the big guns of the
coastal defense obsolete. Fort Hancock was designated a post surplus to the country’s needs until the
autumn of 1947, when it was given a mission in the National Guard and reserves program. Once
again, training and outdoor exercises for the Coast Artillery Reserve and National Guard harbor
defense units were held at Sandy Hook.®® However, the fort became increasingly inactive. The
residency of the 1225" Army Service Unit, Second Service Command, ended on December 31,
1949.%° (This unit had been organized at Sandy Hook in 1941 to provide administrative and logistical
support to tactical commands.®) On June 25, 1950, the facility was deactivated.” The only
inhabitants thereafter were the crew of the Sandy Hook Coast Guard Station and the keepers of the
Sandy Hook lighthouse.*

The advent of the Korean War caused the fort to be reactivated on April 10, 1951, to provide
anti-aircraft defense for the New York City area, and to serve as a training center for anti-aircraft
units.®® The 1225™ Army Service Unit was reorganized,” and a limited rehabilitation was undertaken
of the buildings and grounds.*® After the war Fort Hancock was deactivated again, on May 1, 1953.%
However, it continued to be occupied by the 1225™ which provided logistical and administrative
support to the radar and antiaircraft installations on Sandy Hook. Between 1953 and 1956, the
average population of the post was 914, and approximately half of the troop quarters were
occupied.”

Beginning in 1953, the antiaircraft guns at Sandy Hook started to be replaced by Nike-Ajax
surface-to-air missiles. These were designed to defend U.S. air space from Soviet inter-continental
ballistic missiles.® This type of weapon became increasingly important to the Defense Department
as a means of protecting metropolitan centers such as New York City. The need to support the
missile launching and tracking facilities at Sandy Hook caused Fort Hancock to be reactivated yet

8 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 613.

8 Bearss, Historic Resource Study, Fort Hancock: 1948-1974, Sandy Hook Unit, Gateway National Recreation
Area, Monmouth County, New Jersey (Denver: U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, Denver
Service Center, Historic Preservation Division, Nov. 1982), p. 3. Hereinafter HRS, 1948-1974.

% HRS, 1948-1974, p. 3.

%L HRS, 1948-1974, p. 18.

%2 HRS, 1948-1974, pp. 22-23.

% HRS, 1948-1974, pp. 21-23.

% HRS, 1948-1974, p. 24.

% HRS, 1948-1974, p. 25.

% HRS, 1948-1974, p. 29.

9" HSR, 1948-1974, pp. 29, 53.

% Bearss, NPS memorandum, p. 7.
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again, on July 1, 1956.% In 1957 the NIKE-AJAX emplacements were converted to the nuclear-
armed NIKE-HERCULES missiles system, a “vital element in supersonic weaponry.”® The missile
system remained in active use until May 1974, although it was largely obsolete by the late 1960’s.

Throughout the 1950’s two to four units (generally comprised of antiaircraft artillery missile
battalions, military police, and radar signal detachments) were housed at Fort Hancock, totaling
approximately 650 to 1,300 men." During the 1960’s four to six units (generally comprised of
military police, missile battalions, and air defense artillery brigades) were stationed at Fort Hancock,
numbering approximately 1,300 to 2,000 men.'” Figure 8 shows the layout of the fort in 1967.
Interestingly, this map also includes a dotted outline of the former location of the ca.-1860 fort.

On October 27, 1972, President Nixon signed into law legislation authorizing the
establishment of Gateway National Recreational Area. At that time, Fort Hancock was still
providing facilities for:

tactical positions for NIKE missiles
family housing

a U.S. Army Reserve Center

the First Army Recreation Area beach
the Fort Monmouth Officers’ Club beach.

Tenants at Fort Hancock included the U.S. Coast Guard, the U.S. Navy, a First Army recreation
facility, the U.S. Department of Commerce, and the Electronics Support Command. The population
at the fort was 1,687, including military personnel and dependents. The total number of buildings in
use was 230, including 13 buildings for Administration, 40 buildings for storage, 43 buildings for
family housing, 18 buildings for troop housing, and 116 buildings for miscellaneous use.'®®

On August 15, 1974, a deactivation ceremony took place for the last Army missile units at
Fort Hancock. The fort itself was deactivated on December 31, and it was transferred to the
jurisdiction of the Department of the Interior.***

% HRs, 1948-1974, p. 54.

100 RS, 1948-1974, p. v.

101 RS, 1948-1974, pp. 58-61.
102 RS, 1948-1974, pp. 86-88.
103 HRs, 1948-1974, p. 161.

104 Sandy Hook Unit historian Thomas Hoffman to Sharon Ofenstein, Jan. 29, 2002.
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Figure 6. “Fort Hancock, New Jersey,” March 21, 1908. Map showing the fort after the construction
of the separate mess halls.
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I11. CHRONOLOGY OF DEVELOPMENT AND USE
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CONSTRUCTION HISTORY

The building materials specified by Thomas Regan in his original bid generally were retained
during the renegotiation of the contract with his bondsmen. These included buff-colored face brick
for the walls, laid with rowlock joints. Dark “trap rock” obtained from the Hudson Palisades was to
be used for foundations and underpinnings.! Limestone described as “a dark or colored stone classed
as blue” was specified for doorway and window lintels and sills (“trimmings”).? Roofing slate was to
be Brownsville roofing slate measuring 14 by 10 inches, 14 by 12 inches, 16 by 12 inches, or 16 by
11 inches. However, the slate actually employed is believed to have been Peach Bottom (PA. S-2).°
The interior plaster was changed from a common lime plaster to the higher-quality King’s Windsor
cement plaster.’

As previously explained, the work proceeded very slowly throughout the summer of 1897.
The inspection of the site on June 14, 1897, found that the foundations for barracks 24 and 25 were
practically completed, but that only the excavations for the foundations for Buildings 22 and 23 were
completed.”> A second inspection in mid-August of 1897 revealed that Building 25 was the most
completed of the four barracks. It “had its brick walls raised to one story in height, the iron columns
set, and the second-floor joists laid.” Building 24 had its brick walls laid to a height of 4 feet, and
five doorway and 15 window frames were set.’

Following the mid-August inspection, Captain Devol issued a change order concerning the
size of the barracks’ first-story window glass, as follows:

All 10" x 16" to read 10" x 13"
All 10" x 15" to read 10" x 12"
All triplet windows to be 9" x12"’

! Webster’s New Collegiate Dictionary defines trap rock as “any [of] various dark-colored fine-grained igneous
rocks used esp. in road making.”

2 Edwin C. Bearss, Historic Resource Study, Fort Hancock, 1895-1948, Gateway National Recreation Area, New
York/New Jersey (Denver: U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service, May 1981), p. 54. Hereinafter
HRS, 1895-1948.

% HRS, 1895-1948, p. 56. Peach Bottom (PA. S-2) slate is the type found on all of the Fort Hancock buildings
examined or treated thus far.

*HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 64-65.
S HRS, 1895-1948, p. 62.
® HRS, 1895-1948, p. 70.

" HRS, 1895-1948, p. 72. The HRS says that the dimensional changes pertained to the size of the window
frames, but an examination of the original plans indicates the dimensions are those of the window panes.
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Unfortunately, the frames of many of the first-story windows of Buildings 24 and 25 were already set
and bricked in place by the time the change order was issued. To shorten the frames to accommodate
the smaller glass size, the contractors had to tear out and reconstruct the brick lintel arches.?

The delivery of the brick arches for the first stories of the barracks’ pavilions had been
sporadic, and when they did arrive, they were found to be of incorrect design and poor quality.
Devol was eventually able to remodel the arches sufficiently well that they did not have to be
rejected and replaced.’

As late as December 9, 1897, army inspectors still thought that approximately two-thirds of
the buildings contracted for (including barracks 24 and 25) could be completed before spring. The
weather then turned bitterly cold, and work was halted until on or before March 1, 1898.%°

The contractors were slow to resume operations in the spring. One of the tasks that Captain
Devol wanted them to do was complete at once the brickwork for “2 Fronts or ‘Ls’ to Barracks Nos.
24 and 25.” Presumably the “Ls” means “ells,” which probably refers to the projecting pavilions.
Devol’s list of work items also included (under “Stonework™) “Hatchways, rear of Barracks, [to be]
built in and coping set.”** Some 10 days later, Devol reported that there were “two barracks [22 and
23] and two captains’ quarters with water table set, and two fronts of barracks [24 and 25] ‘with
walls all ready for men—room enough for a hundred men.””*?

By early September 1898, Bailey was hopeful that barracks 24 and 25 could be ready for
occupancy by September 30, with barracks 22 and 23 prepared by November 30. The installation of
the steam-heating system in the barracks lagged, however, as did the plumbing and gas-fitting.** One
problem involved the need to cut out a portion of the cement basement floor in Buildings 24 and 25,
to accommodate the return steam main."* On November 1, Bailey considered barracks 24 and 25 to
be “practically completed”; they only lacked the galvanized iron shafts connecting the roof
ventilators and a few other items. However, he was concerned about the legal consequences of
troops moving into the buildings until the structures were “entirely completed” and fully paid for.”
The troops and their commander settled the matter for him. In mid-November, the garrison broke
camp and moved into barracks 24 and 25. Sometime during the next several weeks, the army paid to

8 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 132. Bearss says here that the glass size was reduced from 10 by 16 inches to 11 by 13
inches, but the “11” seems to be a misprint, based on two facts. First, on page 72, he quotes Devol’s change order as
reducing the glass size from 10 by 16 inches to 10 by 13 inches. Second, changing the glass size to 11 by 13 inches
would have necessitated widening the window openings as well as shortening them, and there is no evidence that
this occurred.

® HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 72-73.

19 HRs, 1895-1948, p. 83.

1 HRs, 1895-1948, p. 86.

2 HRs, 1895-1948, p. 87.

¥ HRs, 1895-1948, pp. 107-108.

Y HRs, 1895-1948, p. 132.

> HRS, 1895-1948, pp. 114-115.

42



the contractors the retained percentages for a number of buildings, including the two barracks. This
amounted to an official acceptance.

Apparently the contractors did continue to finish up items on the buildings after that time.
On December 10, Captain Bailey recommended the approval of a change order concerning the
railings on the rear porches and at the cellar hatchways. As explained in the HRS,

The specifications for the barracks called for all rear porch and hatchway
railings to be 1%-inch gas piping, with ends threaded and screwed in
malleable iron railing fittings. The standards were to be 2 %-inch pipe.
However, Krueger, Mullin, and Burne claimed that Captain Devol had
agreed to the use of 2 ¥-inch iron standards through which they were to run
the 1 Y-inch pipe railings, and the end bearings were to enter 2 ¥-inch posts
secured by a top screw and drilled through the cast-iron post.

Although Bailey did not consider the cast-iron posts and screws, in lieu of
the materials specified, “a good construction practice,” the subject iron work
had been delivered. If properly set, he determined that it would make a
substantial railing....*°

One alteration occurred so soon after the completion of Building 25 that it can be considered
part of the original construction. This was the installation of screen doors and window screens.
Early in 1899, the army solicited proposals from various firms to install these on a number of
buildings at Fort Hancock. Quartermaster General Ludington favored the submittal made by S.
Roebuck. It proposed window screens having bronze mesh and ash frames, with patented iron corner
pieces that would help hold the frame together. The screens would be installed on the inside of the
windows, because it was a saltwater environment. They would slide on a strip and be weather-
stripped top and bottom. The screen doors would have ash frames divided into five panels filled with
bronze mesh, corresponding to the five-panel design of other doors in the buildings. This proposal
was accepted and carried out, with one change: due to erroneous assumptions on the part of the
manufacturer, the window screens had to be installed on the outside of the windows."’

18 HRs, 1895-1948, p. 122.

Y HRs, 1895-1948, pp. 128-129.
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ORIGINAL APPEARANCE

Building 25 was one of the 32 buildings included in the original master plan for Fort
Hancock. It was begun in 1897 and completed late in 1898. It constituted the northernmost of four
identical barracks for enlisted men built along the east, curved side of the main parade ground. This
placed it near the intersection of Magruder and Hudson Roads (see figure 8).

According to the original construction drawings for the barracks (figs. 9-21), each of the four
buildings was designed to house 70 men—60 enlisted men, nine noncommissioned officers, and one
first sergeant. The original appearance of Building 25 is assumed to correspond to these 13
construction drawings. Any departures made from the drawings that were discovered during the
physical investigation are cited here.

Exterior Elements

Design

Building 25, like most of the other original buildings at Fort Hancock, was built in the
Colonial Revival style. It consisted of a two-story main block measuring 45 feet 6 inches deep by
122 feet 6 inches long, whose main axis ran north/south. It was two stories high, with a full
basement and attic. A two-story pedimented entrance pavilion projected from the center of the west,
front elevation (fig. 9); it was 31 feet 6 inches wide. All four elevations displayed a high degree of
symmetry.

Masonry and metal (rather than wood) were used for an unusual number of exterior elements.
This presumably reflects Captain Murray’s desire to make his buildings as durable and maintenance-
free as possible.™

Foundation

The foundation rested on concrete footings. The foundation walls themselves were of “trap
rock.” This colloquial term applies to a variety of dark, igneous, fine-grained rocks, including basalt
and rhyolite. The rock used for Building 25°s foundation is relatively lighter in color, and appears to
have a high quartz content; it is therefore thought to be rhyolite. The trap rock was ashlar-cut and
random-coursed, with a rock-face finish (see fig. 23). Mortar joints were tooled with a quarter-inch
raised bead. The walls were backed on the interior by common red brick. Light-colored limestone
was used for the water table (see fig. 23). The water table on the west elevation displayed a
horizontally chiseled surface.

The historical documentation states that a light-colored limestone was initially specified for
the foundations and trimmings, including the water table. The limited local availability of this stone
led to the substitution of the dark trap rock for the foundation. An inspector from the Quartermaster
Department was concerned that the light-colored limestone would not harmonize with the dark trap

8 HRs, 1895-1948, p. 19.
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rock, so “a dark or colored [lime]stone classed as blue” was for a time favored.® However, the water
table extant today consists of light-colored limestone, so apparently the light-colored stone was
ultimately selected for the “trimmings.”

Walls

Exterior walls were of brick, with limestone doorway and window sills and lintels
(“trimmings”). They were three wythes thick. The exterior wythe was pressed buff-colored buff
face brick laid in running bond with narrow joints (an eighth of an inch or less). The two interior
wythes, together approximately 1 foot thick, consisted of larger red bricks laid in a common bond
with one row of headers for every five or six rows of stretchers. Change orders submitted on
February 26, 1897, contained the following information about the brick walls:

The [face] brick was to be laid with rowlock joints. In backing brick, every
eighth course was to be face brick. Bats of less than one-half size would not
be allowed as backing brick. Furring strips were to be nailed into mortar
joints of brickwork with cut nails.

A completion report prepared for repair work done in 1991-93 includes photographs of several
buildings where the buff brick veneer had fallen from the wall, exposing the substrate backing brick
and the method of attaching the buff brick to it. The report makes the following observations about
the original wall construction:

The original brick are bonded in place by diagonally toothing the substrate
every six courses and notching the back of the veneer to fit. The space
between the veneer and substrate was filled with mortar, however it was of a
high lime content which did not hold up well to time and the elements.
Water collected inside the wall cavities, freezing in the winter and jacking
the 4" brick veneer out of place.”*

The first story of the projecting pedimented pavilion had arched openings at the first-story
level, three on the front, west side and one each on the north and south sides. The west face of the
pavilion was highly ornamented. The first story featured rusticated brickwork around the three
arches, and a projecting belt course at the springing line of the arches (see fig. 29). A limestone belt
course marked the transition from the first story to the second story.

Y9 HRs, 1895-1948, pp. 54-55.
20 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 55.
21 C. Thomas Ballos, “Completion Report, Emergency Stabilization of Historic Fort Hancock, Gateway National

Recreation Area, Sandy Hook Unit” (Building Conservation Branch, Cultural Resources Center, North Atlantic
Region, NPS, 1993), pp. 39-40.
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Porches
West Porches

The west elevation of Building 25 originally had a two-story loggia-type porch on either side
of the projecting pavilion (see figs. 9 and 22). These porches extended from the pavilion almost to
the ends of the building.

The foundation of the porches consisted of trap-rock piers, each of which was capped with a
section of limestone water table. The sections of water table displayed a vertically chiseled surface.
Wooden lattice panels were secured between the trap-rock piers to screen the area below the porches
(see fig. 22). The lattice was to consist of pieces measuring 1 /s by 2 inches, “halved together” (see
fig. 16).

The first story of each porch featured six piers of buff-colored brick with molded brick bases
and caps. The brick piers were positioned directly over the trap-rock piers. One pier abutted the wall
of the main block; one pier abutted the wall of the pavilion; and four piers were freestanding,
including an L-shaped corner pier (see fig. 13).

The second story of each porch had hollow wooden Tuscan columns with molded cast-iron
bases. Again, the columns were positioned directly over the first-story piers. The columns over the
piers that abutted walls were accompanied by a pilaster against the walls, also with molded cast-iron
bases. A cluster of three columns sat above each L-shaped corner pier (see fig. 14). The floor had
floor joists measuring 2 by 8 inches, spaced 16 inches on center, resting on 6- by 8-inch girders.
Between the joists was cross-bridging. The ceilings were seven-eighths of an inch thick. Both
stories had cast-iron balustrades of classic urn-shape design running between the piers and columns.
Figure 16 shows details of the brick piers and wood columns, porch cornice, and cast-iron balustrade.

The pavilion was accessed by a flight of steps up to the center arch. The steps’ composition
was not cited in the original construction documents, but they were probably limestone: the top five
steps extant today are limestone. (The bottom two steps are concrete, and not original.)

East Porch

The east elevation of Building 25 had a one-story rear porch covering the center five bays of
the 11-bay wall (fig. 10). It consisted of six wooden Tuscan columns along the outer edge, and two
pilasters against the wall of the main block in line with the end columns (see fig. 13). Wooden steps
at either end of the porch led up to a wooden deck (see figs. 23, 24). The ceiling was also wood,
seven-eighths of an inch thick. A metal pipe balustrade ran between the six columns.

Details of the porch’s columns, cornice, and handrail are provided in figure 16. However, the
balustrade as actually constructed differed somewhat from intended design. As explained previously
on pages 42-43, a change order approved in December 1898 allowed iron standards to be substituted
for standards made of gas piping, and permitted the handrails to run through the standards, rather
than attach to them.?

22 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 122.
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Doorways

All doorways had limestone sills displaying a horizontally chiseled surface. All but the east
basement entrance had lintels consisting of buff-brick jack (flat) arches resting on steel shelf angles
(see fig. 17). The vertical bricks in the center of the arch projected to form a keystone motif.

West (Front) Elevation

This elevation is absolutely symmetrical. The center pavilion is three bays wide, with four
bays extending to either side of the pavilion

First Story

The main entrance was centered on the elevation, such that it aligned with the centermost of
the three arches of the pavilion (see fig. 9). The head of the doorway opening incorporated three 6-
inch | beams, to support the brickwork above the doorway (see fig. 17). The double doorway had
narrow sidelights and a large transom. The sidelights consisted of 16 panes above one raised vertical
panel. The transom was divided into three parts: a four-light sash above each of the sidelights, and a
12-light sash above the doors. Each of the double doors had a 21-light panel above two raised
horizontal panels, and measured 2 feet 6 inches wide by 8 feet high by 2 % inches thick. The design
of the main entrance is depicted in an original construction drawing (fig. 17), and in two historic
photographs (figs. 29, 49).

The west elevation also had two single doorways opening to the first story of the porch, one
each in the second bay from the outer ends of the main block. The northern one provided access to
the day room, while the southern one entered the mess hall. The doorways featured a six-light
transom and a door with 28 lights above two raised horizontal panels. The doors measured 3 feet
wide by 8 feet high by 2 ¥ inches thick. Figure 17 shows details of the single doorways.

Second Story

Two single doorways were also installed at the second-story level, one each in the third bay
from the outer ends of the main block. They allowed access to the second story of the porch. The
design and dimensions of these doorways and doors were the same as those for the first-story
doorways. The doorways featured a six-light transom and a door with 28 lights above two raised
horizontal panels. The doors measured 3 feet wide by 8 feet high by 2 % inches thick. Figure 17
shows details of the single doorways.

East (Rear) Elevation

This side of Building 25 was similar to the west elevation, in that it had 11 bays and a center
entrance. However, it was slightly less symmetrical, due to the need for a separate doorway and
additional windows for the kitchen along this wall (see fig. 10).
Basement Level

The only original exterior access to the basement was located at the center of the east wall.
This was a double doorway with a limestone lintel. It had no transom or sidelights, and contained

two doors having 20 lights above two raised horizontal panels. Each door measured 2 feet 10 inches
wide by 7 feet high by 2 ¥ inches thick. The doorway was accessed by a stairwell formed by trap-
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rock retaining walls. The material used for the steps is not known. The sides of the stairwell at
ground level were edged with a pipe railing resembling that used around the perimeter of the roof
deck.

First Story

A double doorway in the center of the elevation led to the center hall. It had a 12-light
transom but no sidelights. Each door had 21 lights above two raised horizontal panels, and measured
2 feet 6 inches wide by 8 feet high by 2 % inches thick.

There was also a single doorway here, in the fourth bay from south end of the main block. It
provided direct access from the rear porch to the kitchen. Its design was the same as for the single
doorways on the west elevation: a six-light transom, and a door with 28 lights above two raised,
horizontal panels. The door measured 3 feet 10 inches wide by 8 feet high by 2 ¥ inches thick.

Second Story

A single doorway in the center of the elevation led to the second-story center hall. It
provided access to the roof deck over the rear porch deck, where soldiers could air their bedding.”®
This doorway had a three-light transom, no sidelights, and the typical glazed and paneled door 3 feet
wide by 8 feet high by 2 % inches thick.

South and North (Side) Elevations

Originally there were no doorways in either of these elevations (see figs. 12-13).

Windows

All windows, except for the oculi, had limestone sills. The sills of the basement windows
displayed a vertically chiseled surface, while the sills of the first- and second-story windows had a
horizontally chiseled surface.

The west elevation’s basement windows had limestone lintels in addition to the limestone
water table here. The basement windows on the other three elevations, however, had only the
limestone water table running above them as lintels (see fig. 23). The lintels of first- and second-
story windows were similar to those of the doorways: brick jack (flat) arches with projecting
keystones, carried on steel shelf angles (see fig. 17).

West (Front) Elevation

The fenestration of this side was completely symmetrical at all three levels, for the three bays
in the center pavilion and the four bays on either side of the pavilion (fig. 9).

2 HRS, 1895-1948, p. 316.
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Basement Level

One window opening was situated in all eight bays of the main block (see fig. 12). They are
not seen in the original construction drawing (fig. 9), being concealed by the front porches, but their
sashes undoubtedly were the same as those on the east elevation (see fig. 10). These sashes had eight
lights measuring 10 inches square, and were hinged at the top to open awning-style. Figure 18 shows
details of the basement windows’ construction.

First Story

The west side had identical double-hung windows in all bays not containing a doorway. This
includes the pavilion area, where two windows flank the center entrance. Sashes were 12-over-12
with panes measuring 10 by 13 inches. This is the standard window design for most areas of
Building 25. Construction details are provided in figure 17. However, the height of the panes was
reduced by a change order during construction, from 15 inches to 13 inches. This reduction in the
total height of the windows meant that the tops of the window openings (i.e., the elaborate jack-arch
lintels) had to be rebuilt.?*

Second Story

This level also had one standard double-hung window (i.e., 12-over-12 sashes with 10- by
13-inch panes) in all bays of the main block not containing a doorway.

The pavilion featured a Palladian-motif window opening centered over the front entrance.
The arch over the center section was filled with a terra-cotta element resembling a fan or shell.
Figure 15 shows details of the “Palladian” window. The sill of the window was stone; below it were
two bands of brickwork, a thin one and a lower, thicker one. The outer edges of the window opening
were ornamented with Corinthian pilasters; the center window was flanked by Corinthian columns;
and all were capped by a simple terra-cotta entablature. The center opening contained double-hung,
15-over-15 sashes (five across by three down) having panes measuring 9 by 12 inches. The side
sashes were fixed, with 12 lights (two across by six down) measuring 5 % inches wide by 12 inches
high. Each of the two bays on either side of the “Palladian” window contained a narrower double-
hung window; sashes were nine-over-nine, with 10- by 13-inch panes.

Attic Level

In the tympanum of the pavilion’s gable was an elliptical oculus in a terra-cotta frame
ornamented with four key blocks. The sash had a border of small lights; the area i